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REPORT AND RECOMME NDED DECISON*

Thisplaintiff in this Supplementa Security Income (“SS”) apped contends that the adminigrative
law judge failed to congder properly hisassertions of pain, which resulted in an improper determination of
his resdua functiona capacity for work, and made afinding concerning his credibility that lacks support in
the evidence. * | recommend that the court affirm the decision of the commissioner.

In accordance with the commissioner’s sequential evauation process, 20 C.F.R. § 416.920;

Goodermote v. Secretary of Health & Human Servs., 690 F.2d 5, 6 (1982), the adminigtrative law

! This action is properly brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1383(c)(3). The commissioner has admitted that the plaintiff has
exhausted his administrative remedies. The caseis presented as arequest for judicial review by this court pursuant to
Loca Rule 16.3(a)(2)(A), which requires the plaintiff to file an itemized statement of the specific errors upon which he
seeks reversal of the commissioner’s decision and to complete and file afact sheet available at the Clerk’ s Office. Oral

argument was held before me on May 19, 2005, pursuant to Local Rule 16.3(a)(2)(C) requiring the partiesto set fortha ord
argument their respective positions with citations to relevant statutes, regulations, case authority and page referencesto
the administrative record.

2 At oral argument, counsel for the plaintiff stated that the plaintiff had abandoned his claim that the administrativelaw
judge erred in finding that his back condition did not meet or equal the criteria of any impairment included in Appendix 1
to Subpart P of 20 C.F.R. Part 404 (the “Listings”).



judgefound, in relevant part, that the plaintiff suffered from disorders of the back and low back syndrome,
imparments that were severe but did not meet the aiteria of any impairment included in the Listings,
Findings2- 3, Record at 24, that the plantiff’ salegations concerning hislimitationswere not totaly credible,
Finding 4, id.; that he retained the residua functiona capacity to perform work at thelight exertiond levd,
Finding 5, id.; that he was unable to return to his past relevant work, the exertiona leve of which is
classfied in a range from medium to very heavy, Findings 6-7, id.; that given his age (25, a “younger
individud”), education (high-school equivalent), and resdua functiona capacity for asgnificant range of
light work, use of Rule 202.21 from Appendix 2 to Subpart P, 20 C.F.T. Part 404 (the “Grid") as a
framework would result in afinding that there are a Sgnificant number of jobsin the regiond and nationd

economies that the plaintiff could perform, Findings 9-12, id. at 24-25; and that the plaintiff thereforewas
not under a disability asthat term is defined in the Socid Security Act a any time through the date of the
decison, Finding 13,id. at 25. The Appeds Council declined to review thedecision,id. at 9-12, making it
the find determination of the commissioner, 20 C.F.R. § 415.1481; Dupuisv. Secretary of Health &

Human Servs, 869 F.2d 622, 623 (1st Cir. 1989).

The standard of review of the commissoner’s decision is whether the determination made is
supported by substantial evidence. 42 U.S.C. 88 405(g), 1383(c)(3); Manso-Pizarro v. Secretary of
Health & Human Servs., 76 F.3d 15, 16 (1st Cir. 1996). In other words, the determination must be
supported by such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support the
concluson drawn. Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 401 (1971); Richardson v. Secretary of
Health & Human Servs., 647 F.2d 218, 222 (1st Cir. 1981).

Theadminigrativelaw judge reached Step 5 of the sequentia process, at which stage the burden of

proof shifts to the commissioner to show that a clamant can perform work other than her past relevant



work. 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1520(f), 416.920(f); Bowen v. Yuckert, 482 U.S. 137, 146 n.5 (1987);
Goodermote, 690 F.2d at 7. The record must contain positive evidencein support of the commissioner’s
findingsregarding the plaintiff’ sresdua work capacity to perform such other work. Rosado v. Secretary of
Health & Human Servs., 807 F.2d 292, 294 (1st Cir. 1986).
Discussion

The plaintiff contends that the adminigtrative law judge did not evaluate his assartions of pain
correctly and that this led the adminigrative law judge to fail to include congderation of his pain when
assigning aresdud functiond capecity (RFC) to the plaintiff at Step 5 of the sequentia review process.
Statement of Errors at 3-4, 7-8. Hearguesthat “the ALJfailed to explain how individua [Socid Security
Ruling] 96-7p factors related to the medica evidence” Id. a 4. That ruling deals with assessng the
credibility of a clamant’s statements. Socia Security Ruling 96-7p (“ SSR 96-7p”), reprinted in West's
Social Security Reporting Service Ruings (Supp. 2004), at 133. Thereevant regulationis20C.F.R. §
416.929, which requires that there be evidence of a medicaly determinable imparment that could
reasonably be expected to produce the dleged pain and lists the steps for evaluating claims of pain once
such an impairment has been found. 20 C.F.R. § 416.929(b) & ().

The plaintiff concedes that the administrative law judge mentioned SSR 96-7p in his opinion,®
Statement of Errors a 4, but contends that the adminigtrative law judge did not actudly consder the

requirements of that Ruling or of the gpplicable regulation in reaching his decison. The adminidrativelav

% The administrative law judge also mentioned the applicable regulation. Record at 22. The statement of errors
erroneously refersto 20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1529. Statement of Errorsat 3.



judge did perform an andysis of the plaintiff’ s aleged pain, which the plaintiff described as“severe painin
my back, the cramps, they go al the way down my legs.” Record a 37.

The adminidrative law judge noted that the plaintiff had been hit by acar whileriding abicyclein 1997,id.
a 19, which the plaintiff gpparently identified as the source of his back pain, id. at 46; that none of the
medica records showed any complaint of back pain until November 1999, when the plaintiff wasdiagnosd
with alumbar drain, id. at 19; that atresting physician in January 2000 diagnosed chronic lumber strain and
prescribed Oxycontin, which helped to dleviae the pan, dthough the plantiff had no neurologicd
symptoms, id. at 20; that an MRI taken in February 2000 was normd, id.; thet aconsulting examiner who
saw the plaintiff in July 2000 noted physicd findingsinconsstent with thedamsof pain and concluded that it
was unlikely that the plaintiff had organic diseasein hisback, id.; that an osteopathic physician who trested
the plaintiff from September 2000 through June 2001 described reasonably good dinicd results form
osteopathic manipulative therapy, id.; that the plaintiff falled to attend scheduled physical therapy
appointments resulting in his discharge from the program in January 2000, id.; that when he was eva uated
by a physica therapist in February 2000 the plaintiff showed limitation only in the range of mation of his
lumbar spine, and acknowledged that dl of his x-rays and his MRI had come back negative, id.; thatina
March 26, 2002 gppointment, his last with the plaintiff, a treating physician noted some mild to moderate
distress due to back pain and the normd x-raysand MR, id. at 21; that the medical expert who testified at
the hearing stated that no Listing was met or equaled, id. a 22; tha the plaintiff took only Tylenol as
needed, id.; and that amedica examination by C. Smith, M.D., found that the plaintiff was abletowork, as

did the medica expert who testified, id. Theadministrativelaw judge then found thet the plaintiff’ s capacity

* The plaintiff also testified that he could not “do much heavy lifting,” although he did not say that thiswas due to pain.
(continued on next page)



for light work was “diminished by non-exertiond limitations caused by his combination of back pain and
depression which somewhat reduce his capacity for sustained concentration.” 1d. a 23. Thisandyssis
sufficient to support the adminidrative law judge' s findings concerning the plaintiff’ s pain.

Theplantiff assertsthat “[t]he medica records consistently noted the claimants[sic] subjective pain
complaints. Pain medication has been prescribed and attendance at apain clinic has been recommended.”
Statement of Errors at 4. Yet he offers no citations to the record in support of these assertions in his
statement of errors. At ord argument, counsd for the plaintiff identified page 381 of therecordasthe basis
for this statement. On that page, Timothy Poutre, M.D., states that “[t] he patient returnsto the Pain Clinic
today” and describes* conservativethergpy” that was provided, including an* epidura blood patch.” Thisis
therecord of asingleinstance of trestment; it does not demonsirate acons stent pattern of pain complaints.

The record contains numerous statements by treating, examining and non-examining physciansto
the effect that the plaintiff isabletowork and that thereisno medica basisfor the degree of pain hereports.

Record at 120, 122 (7/18/00 DDS RFC assessment by norexamining physdan finding no limitationsand
dating that symptoms reported by plaintiff areinconsstent with medica evidence); 141-48 (10/16/00DDS
RFC assessment; no limitations); 215 (7/13/00 consulting examination, finding plaintiff ableto do al work-
related activities); 433-35 (11/7/02 consulting examining physician report, plaintiff able to do al work-
related activities); 455-57 (12/12/02 DDS RFC assessment by non-examining physidan finding no
limitations); 477-79 (4/18/03 DDS RFC assessment, same). A chiropractor, who is not an acceptable
medical source, 20 C.F.R. § 416.913(a), opined on June 14, 2000 that the plaintiff was “not able to

perform any type of working activities,” id. at 202, and Roger Pelli, D.O., after examining the plaintiff,

Record at 37, 38, 42.



stated that itwas“premature” asof October 2000 “to decide whether this person ought to be disabled,” id.
at 226, but the adminidrative law judge is entitled to weigh conflicting medica opinions and choose that
position which he or shefindsisbest supported inthemedical evidence. Thereiscertainly enough medical
evidence in this record to support the adminigirative law judge's decison to consder pain only as
“somewha” reducing the plaintiff’s capacity for light work due to its effect on his capacity for sustained
concentration. Inaddition, the plaintiff testified a the hearing that he only took Tylenol for hisback painand
had not seen histregting physician, Dr. Pdlli, for seven or eight months or longer before the hearing. Record
at 38 -39. The medica expert noted a second negative MRI in July 2001, and the records of the most
recent treeting medical professona, whose opinion wasthat the plaintiff could do dl work activities. 1d. at
49. Thereisno error intheadminigirative law judge’ strestment of the plaintiff’ s assertions concerning pain.

Theplaintiff’ sargument concerning the RFC assigned at Step 5isbasad primarily on hiscontentions
concerning thetreatment of hisalegations of pain by theadminidrativelaw judge. Statement of Errorsat 7-
8. Theonly new argument raised in this section of the plaintiff’ s statement of errorsisthat the adminigtrative
law judge failed to comply with 20 C.F.R. § 416.927(d))(2) and Socia Security Ruling 96-02p.° Id. He
relies on the reports of achiropractor and Dr. Pdlli. Thisargument ignores the fact that the chiropractor’s
report can serve only asinformation from an “ other source” to show the severity of animpairment and how
it affects the ability towork. 20 C.F.R 8§ 416.913(d). Contrary to the plantiff’s argument, Statement of
Errorsat 7-8, the chiropractor’ sreport doesnot “get[] specia precedence over other medical evidence.”
Thegtatement of errors does not identify wherein the record Dr. Pelli described the plaintiff’ sback painina

manner that would

® The statement of errors erroneously refersto 20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(d)(2).



require the adminigrative law judgeto * offer alegitimate bassfor refusing to adopt the tregting physician’s
views” Id.a 8. Dr. Pdli did sate that hefound it likely that the plaintiff would haveto “beretrained into a
skill that does not require tremendous physica [abor since hewill probably have chronic pain, based onthe
fact that he has been this way for three years now,” Record at 226 (date 10/2/00), but his records also
show that as of March 26, 2002 the plaintiff had “good results’ fromosteopathic manipul ation and would
return “in one month at his request,” an gppointment which the plaintiff did not keep, id. at 480. The
adminigrative law judge referred to this note in his opinion. 1d. a 21. Thereis no record of further
trestment by Dr. Pelli, and the plaintiff testified at the hearing on December 3, 2003 that it had been eight
months or more since he saw Dr. Pdli, id. at 38-39. Under these circumstances it would have been an
empty exercise for theadministrativelaw judgeto expresdy address each of thefactorslistedin 20 C.F.R.
8 416.927(d) because the treating relationship appeared to have been terminated (8 416.927(d)(2)), the
frequency of examination was none (id.), and any inferences about the plaintiff’ s pain that may reasonably
be drawn from Dr. Pdlli’ s records that are incongstent with the medica opinionslisted above need not be
credited by the adminigtrative law judge. Inaddition, Dr. Pelli’ sopinion that the plaintiff could beretrained
for work different from that which he had done in the past underminesany interpretation of therest of Dr.
Pdli’ s records to support the plaintiff’s clams of totaly disabling pain.

Findly, the plaintiff contends thet the adminigtrative law judge s finding concerning the plaintiff’'s
credibility lacks “subgtantid support.” Statement of Errors a 4-7. | have aready concluded that the
adminigtrativelaw judge complied sufficiently with therequirements of SSR 96-7p. Theplantiff assertsthet
the adminigtrative law judge erroneoudy “concluded that Mr. Lugo wascurrently seeking aprofessiona
football career and the requisite high level of athleticism was inconsstent with being disabled.” 1d. at 6

(emphadisinorigind). Theadminigrativelaw judge sopinion includesthe satement “ Mr. Lugo damed that



he was seeking a pro football career.” Record a 22. A conclusion that the adminigtrative law judge
thereby was Stating thet the plaintiff currently sought a professond football career and that he therefore
concluded that the plaintiff retained a “high leve of athleticism” may not reasonably be drawn from the
opinion. Itisaso clear from the transcript of the hearing that the adminigrative law judge knew that the
plantiff had only been considering such a career before his bicycle accident. 1d. at 42.

The only other specific point raised by the plantiff concerning the evauation of his credibility,
Statement of Errorsa 6, isthefollowing sentencein the adminigrativelaw judge sopinion: “Hesad that he
can't lift anything but admitted that he moved to Caribou yesterday,” Record at 22. Asthe plaintiff points
out, histestimony wasthat hisparticipation in themove conssted of carrying “[jJust basicaly pillows, not the
heavy Suff.” Id. a 48. Evenif theadminidrativelaw judge sobservation about thistestimony iserroneous,
hisoverdl evduation of the plaintiff’ s credibility complieswith the requirements of SSR 96-7p and Averyv.
Secretary of Health & Human Servs., 797 F.2d 19, 25 (1st Cir. 1986).

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, | recommend that the decision of the commissioner beAFFIRMED.

NOTICE

A party may file objections to those specified portions of a magistrate judge’s report or
proposed findings or recommended decisions entered pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 636(b)(1)(B) for
which de novo review by the district court is sought, together with a supporting memorandum,
within ten (10) days after being served with a copy thereof. A responsive memorandum shall be
filed within ten (10) days after the filing of the objection.

Failuretofileatimely objection shall constitute a waiver of theright tode novo reviewvby
the district court and to appeal the district court’s order.

Dated this 24th day of May, 2005.
/s David M. Cohen
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